### National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form



La.

state

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms Type all entries—complete applicable sections

Baton Rouge

## 1. Name

city, town

histor	ic Cane	brake							
	r common	same							
<u>z.</u>	Loca	ation		,	<u></u>				
street	& number	12 miles nor	ノ E <del>ctheast</del> っ	of Ferriday	on <del>Stat</del>	LA e-Highway 9	01 N	/A not for pub	lication
city, to	own Fer	riday vie	!	vicinity	/ of	congressional	district	FifthJer	y Huckaby
state	Louis	iana	code	22	county C	oncordia Pa	rish	code	029
3.	Clas	sificatio	<b>n</b>						
X b s s	<b>gory</b> listrict building(s) structure site object	Ownership public private both Public Acquisi N/A in process N/A being consi		Status x_ occupied ( unoccupied work in pro Accessible yes: restric yes: unrest no	d(olltbùf ogress cted	Present Us γ_S_agricultu 1dingsommer educatio entertaiu governn industria military	ure rcial onal nment nent	religiou scientif	verseer's hous residence is ic
4.	Own	er of Pr	opert	tv			······································		are vacant
	Mrs. Cl & number	aire M. Maxwe Star Route,		ry L. Maxwel	l, John	H. Maxwell	, Jr.,	and Stepher	n L. Maxwell
city, t	<b>own</b> Ferr	idav		X_ vicinity	/ of		state	Louisiana	71334
5.		ation of	Lega	I Descr	iptio	n			
courti		stry of deeds, etc.							
street	& number	Vidalia-Fer	riday H	ighway 84	,	P. O. Box	790		
city, t	own Vi	dalia					state [	.ouisiana 7	1373
6.	Rep	resentat	tion i	n Existi	ng S	urveys	;		
title	La. Hi	storic Sites	Survey	has	this prope	erty been deter	mined el	eqible?v	esX_ no
date	198							e county	
depos	sitory for su	irvey records	La. Stat	te Historic :	Preserva	ation Offic	e	·	

## 7. Description

Condition		Check one	Che
Qexcellent X_good	_X deteriorated	unaltered	X
X good	ruins	X_ altered	X
X_ fair	unexposed		

#### eck one

\_ original site ( moved

date one slave quarters building was relocated in the 20th century

#### Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

Situated on a 531-acre plantation located west of the Mississippi River and east of Lake St. John, Canebrake is protected from the Mississippi River by a levee which is located about 150 feet in front of the house. The one-and-a-half story, frame, vernacular dwelling is set upon high brick foundation piers, and its gable roof is pierced by one, inside-end, stuccoedbrick chimney at each gable end. The five-bay easterly facade is fronted by a gallery locate under the broken front slope of the roof. The gallery is supported by wooden box columns wit molded capitals that are echoed on the front wall by pilasters. The columns and pilasters ar linked by a railing of rectangular-sectioned balusters with molded handrail. A wide, single flight of wooden steps leads to the center-bay entrance doorway. The entrance doorway consists of a pair of double-leaf, folding doors that are six-paneled and molded with the uppermost panels of each door having been glazed in the 20th century. The rear doorway is filled with a pair of double-leaf, folding doors that are three-paneled with the uppermost panels also glazed. The rear doorway features a sidelight on only the southern side of the door encasement. The windows of the house contain nine-over-six, double-hung sash and are closed by original shutter blinds on the facade.

The floor plan of the house is a double-pile plan with wide central passage. The door surrounds and baseboards of the hallway are plain and unmolded. The four rooms of the main floor are identically trimmed with architrave door and window surrounds, four-paneled doors that are molded on the hallway side only, and simply beaded bases. The front two roces also feature matching, wooden pilastered mantel pieces.

Since it original construction ca. 1840, Canebrake has undergone two remodelings. As originally constructed Canebrake was a raised cottage with wide, open, central passage that featured a single-pile plan with "cabinet" rooms enclosing each end of the rear gallery. About 1850 to 1860, the rear "cabinet" rooms were enlarged and new millwork installed through out the interior of the house, the central open passage was enclosed and extended to include the original rear gallery, a new gallery with "cabinet" rooms was added across the rear, and brick infill was used between the supporting piers on the southern half of the house to form pantry or storage rooms lighted by unglazed windows with metal bars.

After Canebrake was purchased by the Meserve family in 1910, the upstairs was finished into two bedrooms with a central passage, a large shed-roof dormer was added to the front slope of the roof, and a stairway was installed to connect the upper and lower hallways. The stairway, which features rectangular-sectioned balusters and a newel of clustered balusters, runs in an easterly direction along the southern hallway wall in a single, straigh flight. A small frame hyphen was also added at the southwest corner of the rear of the house, and the southern end of the front gallery was sympathetically enclosed with the columr and railing left intact.

Numerous plantation outbuildings are located within the nominated property. In the rear yard of the house, at the southwest corner, is a shed-roof, frame chicken house and, at the northwest corner, is a 20th-century frame garage. To the rear of the yard of the house is the "quarter lot" which contains five remaining double slave cabins. The slave cabins are one-story, gabled-roof frame buildings with central chimneys, undercut galleries, and unglazed, shuttered windows. A gabled-roof, frame barn is located north of the house and beyond the barn in a northerly direction is an additional double slave cabin that was relocated from the "quarter lot."

The physical condition of the main house is good, but the condition of the outbuildings ranges from fair to deteriorated.

### National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form

Page 2

Continuation sheet Canebrake

Item number

7

ITEM 7 ADDENDUM BY LOUISIANA STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE

#### Summary Paragraph:

Canebrake is a rare surviving example of an antebellum agricultural complex. It includes an overseer's house, six slave cabins, a barn, a chicken house, and a garage. The overseer's house was constructed c.1840 and remodeled once in the 1850's and a second time c.1910. The six slave cabins, the barn, and the chicken house date from c.1840-c.1860 and have been altered very little. One of the slave cabins has been moved about 250 feet from its original location (see sketch map). The garage is a twentieth century addition and is considered a non-contributing element. Despite the alterations to the main house, the moving of one of the slave cabins, and the twentieth century garage, Canebrake retains its significance as a rare surviving example of an antebellum agricultural complex.

#### Summary of Alterations to Main House and Complex:

Changes in the overseer's house in the c.1910 remodeling:

- The attic was finished and a front pent dormer was installed.
- (2) An interior stair was installed.
- (3) A small addition was made at the rear.
- (4) The southern end of the front gallery was enclosed. The enclosure walls were set behind the original balustrade and columns.
- (5) The remainder of the front gallery was screened in.

Changes in the complex made in the twentieth century:

- The construction of a small frame garage which is classed a non-contributing element.
- (2) The moving of one of the slave cabins from its original location (see map) to a new location beside the barn.

CONTINUED

### National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet Canebrake Item number 7



ITEM 7 ADDENDUM BY LOUISIANA STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE (Continued)

#### Assessment of Integrity:

The Canebrake complex is significant as a cohesive collection of antebellum plantation support structures. The fact that one of the cabins has been moved slightly and that certain superficial changes have been made to the overseer's house has not affected its status as a rare surviving example of an antebellum agricultural complex (within the context of Concordia Parish). In any case, the cabins, the barn, and the chicken house are virtually unaltered.

## 8. Significance

Period	Areas of Significance—Check and justify below						
Period prehistoric 1400–1499 1500–1599 1600–1699 1700–1799 1800–1899 1900–	archeology-prehistoric		<ul> <li>landscape architectur</li> <li>law</li> <li>literature</li> <li>military</li> <li>music</li> <li>philosophy</li> <li>politics/government</li> </ul>	re religion science sculpture social/ humanitarian theater transportation			
	•	invention	• • • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	other (specify)			

Specific dates c, 1840-c, 1860 ** Build	er/Architect	not known with certainty (see below
Statement of Clariffernes (in one neverset)		for speculation on builder for c.1840)

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) Criterion A

Canebrake Plantation is the most agriculturally significant antebellum plantation complex in Concordia Parish, Louisiana. This significance is based on the survival and integrity of the slave cabins located in the "quarter lot" behind the main house and on the importance of the main house as a rare surviving example of an overseer's house on a plantation owned and operated by an absentee landlord who belonged to the planting aristocracy of Natchez, Mississippi. By the early 19th century, Concordia Parish had become principally a planting province for the planters who resided in Natchez in grand townhouses or suburban villa residences. By 1860, over 81% of the parish land was owned by these absentee owners and 91% of the population consisted of slaves (D. Clayton James, <u>Antebellum Natchez</u> (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1968), p. 148).

The main house on Canebrake is a good example of a typical raised Louisiana cottage with wide open central passage and was probably constructed ca. 1840 while the plantation was owned by Tobias Gibson and his partner William Harris, a planter who resided at Ravenna in Natchez. The original small size and plain finishes of the house and its close proximity to the quarter lot denote the role of the house as an overseer's cottage rather than a resident planter's dwelling. Nevertheless, the overseer's cottage is held physically, thus socially, aloof from the slave cabins by its elevation on high brick foundation piers, by its position slightly removed and forward from the quarter lot, and by its higher degree of finish. Although enlarged twice, the architectural integrity of the house has been little compromised since changes were in the form of additions rather than subtractions. The most unusual and well-detailed architectural feature of the house is the use of double-leaf, hinged doors to enclose the central passage. These doors were probably installed in the mid-19th century when Canebrake was owned by Gerard Brandon of Brandon Hall near Natchez. The five, double slave cabins of the rear "quarter lot," their construction and their physical relationship to each other, the overseer's house, the barn, and the cotton fields provide a rare tangible resource for studying the living conditions of the slave and overseer of a large antebellum cotton plantation.

In 1910, Canebrake Plantation was purchased by Arthur Meserve of Illinois, whose grandson, Barry Maxwell, now resides in the main house. Unoccupied for a number of years, the house is being restored and renovated as a permanent family residence for the Maxwell family.

\*\*This refers to the period of significance for the complex. The overseer's house
was built c.1840, remodeled c.1860, and remodeled c.1910. The slave cabins and
outbuildings date from c.1840-c.1860.

# 9. Major Bibliographical References

Concordia Parish, Louisiana. Chancery Clerk. Deed Books and Succession Books.

James, D. Clayton. <u>Antebellum Natchez</u>. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1968.

## **10. Geographical Data**

Acreage of nominated property <u>8.2</u> Quadrangle name <u>Spokane</u> , La UMT References NB: Main house	Miss.			drangle_scale1:2	4,000
OWI References ND; Md III HOUSE	e useu as re	reference for u	IPIS.		
A 1,5 6 5 0 5 8 0 Zone Easting Northir	017 91 610 9	B Zone	Easting	Northing	
c		┍└⊥			
		F			
		н 📋			
Verbal boundary description and	justification				
SEE ATTACHED SKETCH MAP	-			•	
List all states and counties for pr	roperties over	lapping state or	county bound	aries	
state N/A	code	county		code	
state	code	county		code	
11. Form Prepar	ed By				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	ou by				
name/title Mary Warren Miller	r Re	search Consul	tant		
organization Historic Natchez F	Foundation		date October	r 15, 1980	x
·····					
street & number P. 0. Box 1761	<u> </u>		telephone (60	1) 442-2500	
city or town Natchez			state Miss	sissippi 3912	)
12. State Histor	ic Pres	ervation	Office	r Certific	cation
The evaluated significance of this prop	perty within the	state is:	,		
national	state	X local			
As the designated State Historic Prese 665), I hereby nominate this property f according to the criteria and procedure	or inclusion in t	he National Regist	er and certify the	at it has been eval	ıblic Law 89– uated
State Historic Preservation Officer sig	nature	Land de	Bhen		
		B. DeBlieux			
title State Historic Preserv	vation Offic	er	di	ate June 24,	1982
For HCRS use only I hereby certify that this property Ref. Concerned Keeper of the National Register				- playtes	ttans thu no ductastr
Attest:					

### National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form

Page 2

Continuation sheet Canebrake

Item number 8

ITEM 8 ADDENDUM BY LOUISIANA STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE

Canebrake is locally significant in the area of agriculture because it is a rare surviving example of the type of plantation complex which dominated the agricultural landscape of antebellum Concordia Parish. As described below, 81% of the parish's land was owned by absentee landowners who lived across the river in Natchez, Mississippi. Hence, a typical plantation complex in the parish consisted of what one finds at Canebrake -- an overseer's house, slave cabins, and outbuildings. The context for evaluation is Concordia Parish. Hence, the complex is being nominated for significance on the local level.

In most of the antebellum South agriculture and agricultural life centered around the plantations and the plantation houses. The rural landscape was divided into plantation fiefdoms each of which was the center of its own little world. Each plantation was also an agricultural unit in which farming was administered by the local landowner who lived on the property.

Natchez, Mississippi was one of a number of exceptions to this agricultural land pattern. The great planters of Natchez lived in a state of splendid absentee ownership in a manner similar to European aristocrats, albeit on a smaller scale. Although these planters owned land throughout much of southern Louisiana, their holdings were concentrated in neighboring Concordia Parish. For example, in 1860, they owned 81% of the land in the parish. To a large extent, Concordia Parish was farmed through the use of plantation complexes consisting of an overseer's house, slave quarters, and outbuildings, but with no main house as such. (No main house was needed because the master was not in residence.) Essentially these were agricultural colonies to Natchez. They were also the most important factor in the parish's antebellum agricultural development.

Although many of the grand houses of Natchez have been preserved, little remains of the plantation complexes in Concorida Parish which supported them. As far as the Louisiana State Historic Preservation Office is aware, Canebrake is the only surviving example of this type of farm complex in the parish. It is, therefore, a very important visual reminder of the parish's antebellum agricultural history. Canebrake takes on added significance when one considers that agriculture was by far the leading force in the development of Concordia Parish during the nineteenth century.

